FILED

SID J. WHITE

APR 22 1996

In The Supreme Court of Flarida Low eveneme COURT

City Deputy Slock

E

NO. 87,716

#### BRUCE H. BELL,

Petitioner,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

### ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

#### PETITIONER'S MERIT BRIEF

NANCY A. DANIELS Public Defender Second Judicial Circuit

FRED PARKER BINGHAM II Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 0869058

Leon County Courthouse Suite 401 301 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 488-2458

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#### **CASE NO. 87,716**

BRUCE H. BELL,

Petitioner,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

#### 1. Introduction

The First District Court of Appeal certified the following question to this Court regarding the application of this Court's decision in *Coney v. State*, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995):

DOES THE DECISION IN <u>CONEY</u> APPLY TO "PIPELINE CASES," THAT IS, THOSE OF SIMILARLY SITUATED DEFENDANTS WHOSE CASES WERE PENDING ON DIRECT REVIEW OR NOT YET FINAL DURING THE TIME <u>CONEY</u> WAS UNDER CONSIDERATION BUT PRIOR TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE OPINION?

#### 2. <u>History of Proceedings</u>

Based upon an affidavit [R. 3-4], on April 27, 1994, a judge of the Circuit Court issued a search warrant for Apartment #4 at 604 West 18th Street in Jacksonville, Florida [R. 1-2]. The warrant was executed on that day by law enforcement officers [R. 5]. On that date, Mr. Bell was arrested [R. 6-7].

On May 11, 1994, an Information was filed charging Mr. Bell with trafficking in morphine, opium, heroin or their derivatives (4 grams or more, but less than 14 grams, thereof) in violation of § 893.135(1)(c)(1)(a), Fla. Stat. [R. 11]. On July 19, 1994, the state filed an Amended Information, which entirely replicated the charge in the previous information [R. 17]. On the 20th of July, the state filed a Second Amended Information, again replicating the allegations of trafficking in morphine, opium, heroin or their derivatives (4 grams or more, but less than 14 grams, thereof), but changing the statute alleged to have been violated to § 893.135(1)(f), Fla. Stat. [R. 19]. The state then filed a Third Amended Information on August 23, 1994, alleging two counts: Trafficking in morphine, opium, heroin or their derivatives in violation of § 893.135(1)(f),<sup>1</sup> as previously alleged in the Second Amended Information, and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon (§790.23, Fla. Stat.) [R. 21].

On October 20, 1994, Mr. Bell moved to sever the trial of Count I from Count II [R. 24]. The motion to sever the trial of the counts was granted on October 31, 1994 [R. 28].

On that date, Mr. Bell also filed a motion in limine (I) to prohibit the state from introducing any evidence or testimony relating to firearms, clips or bullets recovered [R. 29]. A further motion in limine (II) sought to prohibit the introduction of any evidence or testimony that an item (plastic bags) tested positive for cocaine residue [R. 31]. A final motion in limine (III) sought preclusion of evidence and testimony relating to a (a) a police scanner, (b) U.S. Currency and (c) an 8-mm video cassette [R. 33]. Motion I and II were granted [R. 39-40]. Motion III was granted as to item (c), but denied as to items (a) and (b) [R. 41].

At trial on November 3, 1994, Mr. Bell filed a motion to invoke sanctions due to the state's non-disclosure of a purported statement to a police officer by the defendant until after a jury had been selected, and seeking the exclusion of that statement. The motion was granted by stipulation. [R. 43-44; T. 86-93]. The state agreed that it would not elicit testimony from Bates as to that statement [T. 92-93].<sup>2</sup>

On November 4, 1994, the jury rendered a verdict of guilty of trafficking in heroin

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>§ 893.135(1)(f), as alleged in this information, will later be asserted as relating to amphetamines, not morphine, opium or heroin, in a motion for judgment of acquittal [T. 181].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>That statement purported was an admission by Bell to Detective Bates that he resided in this particular apartment [T. 87].

(Count I). [R. 45].

Mr. Bell filed a motion for new trial on November 10, 1994 [R. 46]. The motion for new trial was subsequently denied on November 28, 1994 [R. 51; T. 273].

On November 14, 1994, the state filed a further, formal response to discovery regarding records of the "Tax Collector/JEA" indicating who was paying power bills for the apartment, and a statement of the defendant to Det. Bates that the apartment was his [R. 48].

On November 28, 1994, Mr. Bell entered into a plea agreement with respect to Count II (possession of a firearm by a convicted felon) [R. 52-53]. On that date, Mr. Bell was sentenced to 82 months on Count I (trafficking), with credit for 216 days incarceration. He was also sentenced to 72 months on Count II (possession of a firearm by convicted felon) based upon his plea agreement, to run concurrent with Count I. [R. 54-59]. A 1994 Sentencing Guidelines Scoresheet resulted in a sentencing range of 55 to 91 months [R. 60-61]. The court further imposed costs totaling \$353.00, including the sum of \$100.00, identified as "FCLTF," but without notation to a statutory authority for imposition of this cost.<sup>3</sup> [R. 56]. The court made no inquiry at sentencing into Mr. Bell's ability to pay costs [T. 278]. Defense counsel also filed a Request for Lien pursuant to \$ 27.56 in the sum of \$750.00 [R. 64A].<sup>4</sup>

Mr. Bell filed a timely Notice of Appeal on December 14, 1994 [R. 65].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>On the Uniform Commitment to Custody form, this cost is reflected as a "Controlled substance assessment." [R. 62].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The court stated it would impose a Public Defender lien at the close of all the proceedings [T. 278]. The present record does not contain a judgment or lien order, however.

#### 2. <u>Statement of the Facts</u>

ì.

#### <u>Peremptory Challenging of the Jury</u>

Challenges to the jury panel were conducted at a side-bar. The transcript record does not reflect that Mr. Bell was actually present at the bench during the challenging of the jurors. [T. 62, *et seq.*]. The defense exercised 5 of its 6 peremptory challenges. The state exercised a peremptory strike as to Ms. Bryant. The defense make a Neil objection to the striking of Ms. Bryant. The prosecutor stated she was black, but unemployed, and noted that he also struck Ms. Edwards, who was also unemployed [T. 65-66]. The court made no inquiry or findings as to the Neil objection, but allowed the state's peremptory strike.

#### **The Evidence at Trial**

**Charles Bates**, a detective with the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office and assigned to the narcotics unit, came into contact with Mr. Bell, whom he identified in court, when Bates and other officers served a search warrant at 604 West 18th Street, Apartment 4 [T. 103]. Upon arrival, there were five or six officers at the front door and two in the back. The officers were dressed in jeans and T-shirts, but all had raid vests which were lettered "POLICE." At the door, they yelled "Police, search warrant." [T. 104]. They waited 5 to 10 seconds and when they received no response, used a ram to break open the door [T. 104]. Bates stated they heard people running around inside; a lot of running around [T. 104].

Bates stated that as soon as they were going through the door, they could hear the toilet flushing and water running in the sink in the bathroom [T. 105]. When they entered, the door to the bathroom was open [T. 132]. Detectives Brannen and Thomas

went straight to the bathroom. Bates was behind them. Mr. Bell, Bates stated, was found standing over a toilet that was flushing. There was a plate in the sink. [T. 105]. Bates stated that a single piece of aluminum foil that contained heroin was found in the bathroom [T. 106].<sup>5</sup> Bell was never observed in the kitchen, east bedroom, or west bedroom [T. 149].

ì.

George Harrison was found in the west bedroom. In the dresser drawer in that bedroom was "a large amount of heroin." Bates said it was approximately 10 grams in aluminum foil. [T. 105]. Also found in the dresser were some small pieces of foil cut unto squares, which are referred to as "decks." [T. 106]. A sifter, of the kind used for sifting flour, was also in the dresser [T. 106].

In the cabinets in the kitchen was found a block of mannitol, which is used as a cut or mixer for heroin. There were also scissors, a stapler, a box of staples and small zip lock baggies in the kitchen cabinets. [T. 106, 114]. A digital scale was on the kitchen counter [T. 112] as well as gloves [T. 122]. Spoons with residue were found in the cabinets [T. 118].

On the living room table were numerous papers with Mr. Bell's name on them [T. 106]. They were receipts for dry cleaning [T. 115; 120]. Later, Bates acknowledged that other papers on the table bore the name of George Harrison with the apartment's West 18th Street address on them. The papers with Bell's name on them had an address on 27th Street [T. 146]. There was also a business card for "R.C. Burress." [T. 146].<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The defense, without state objection, admitted that business card into evidence as Defendant's Exhibit 1 [T. 116].

A jar of muriatic acid was found in front of the couch. Bates stated that this was fairly common when heroin is involved [T. 107]. Bates stated that muriatic acid has a violent reaction with aluminum foil [T. 108]. Bates identified \$510.00 cash, which he stated he "believed" he found on "the suspect." [T. 109]. A "Realistic" police scanner was retrieved from the bedroom [T. 113, 133]. Bates further asserted that the apartment was Mr. Bell's [T. 120].

During a proffer, Bates testified that he Mirandized Mr. Bell [T. 125-126]. Bates stated that Mr. Bell told him everything in the apartment belonged to him [T. 128]. The court found the statement free and voluntary [T. 127]. Bates then testified in the same fashion before the jury [T. 127-130]. Mr. Bell's statement was not recorded and never written down [T. 145].

On cross, Bates admitted that he had listed J.P. Clarkson in his report as present in the raid, but that Clarkson was not there. Clarkson was Bates' partner and, "99 percent of the time he is there." [T. 136]. Sgt. Kirkland was there, but was not listed in Bates' report [T. 137]. No evidence technician was called to the scene [T. 137]. No fingerprints were taken [T. 138].

On cross-examination, Detective Bates was asked if he knew who the landlord of the building was. Bates responded, "No," but then said, "But I know the Jacksonville Electric Authority, who I have access to their files. Mr. Bell is the one who actually obtained the electricity in that apartment." [T. 138]. Counsel objected and moved for a mistrial [T. 138]. The statement was not solicited, counsel argued, and was highly prejudicial. A curative instruction would be of limited value. Further, that information, counsel objected, was hearsay and it had never been disclosed to the defense. [T. 138-139]. The court sustained the objection as to hearsay and struck the answer. The court stated it would give a curative instruction. [T. 139]. The court denied the motion for mistrial because counsel "opened the door" to it [T. 139, 140]. The court then instructed the jury to disregard the last answer of the witness [T. 141]. The court made no inquiry into counsel's objection that this information had never been disclosed to the defense.<sup>7</sup>

**Daniel Brannen** ran through the living room of the apartment once the door was forced open, then continued toward the back of the apartment. He came upon a little hallway with a bathroom and there encountered Mr. Bell. Bell was standing over the toilet, which was gurgling. There was a plate in the sink and the water running. The bathroom door was open. [T. 155].

William Thomas was on the entry team. They yelled and then waited 5 to 20 seconds, then forced the door. Thomas said the apartment was set up so that when you come into the living room, if you go straight, there is a kitchen. If you veer right, there are two bedrooms and a bathroom. Thomas went to the right and heard water running in the bathroom. He saw the defendant standing by the toilet in the bathroom. The sink was running also. [T. 160]. When Thomas first saw Bell, he had just turned to face them because they were coming in and yelling police. Bell walked to them, starting to come out of the bathroom. Bell did not resist. [T. 162]. Thomas had his pistol in his hand at the time [T. 163].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Defense counsel later revisited the matter [T. 164], reminding the court that it had previously excluded an alleged statement by Bates that the apartment was his due to a discovery violation. Because of that, counsel argued that the additional statement regarding the electric service was egregiously prejudicial. The state argued that it was harmless [T. 165]. The court stated it did not make any difference whose apartment it was because the issue was whose stuff it was [T. 165]. The court again denied the motion for mistrial [T. 166].

**Neil Bernstein**, a laboratory analyst at FDLE, tested the substance submitted to him and found it to be heroin weighing 5.4 grams [T. 176-177]. The heroin in the foil retrieved from the bathroom was a very insignificant amount, less than a gram [T. 178]. Bernstein performed only one weighing procedure [T. 180].

At the close of the state's case-in-chief, Mr. Bell moved for a judgment of acquittal, renewed all objection and motions for mistrial, and all pretrial motions [T. 181]. As to the motion for judgment of acquittal, counsel raised the issue that the Amended Information charged a violation of §893.135(1)(f), which relates to amphetamines, not morphine, opium or heroin as charged, and asked for acquittal on that ground as there was no evidence of amphetamines [T. 181-182].

The state moved to amend the information [T. 182], which the court granted by interlineation to a violation of § 893.135(1)(c) [T. 183]. The motion for judgment of acquittal as well as all renewed motion were denied [T. 184]. These motion were all renewed later, and again denied [T. 205 and 213].

In defense, **Mr. Bell** testified that in early afternoon of the day in question, he was sitting in Rodney's apartment at 604 West 18th Street waiting for Rodney to finish working on Bells' car [T. 187-188]. Bell had been there twice before. Bell was not sure of Rodney's last name; it was probably Johnson, but Bell was not sure of that. Rodney was a handyman mechanic who was fixing his car. [T. 188]. Bell was in the bathroom when the police entered. He did not hear them knock, but heard the door being broken down. He was standing at the sink washing his hands at the time. [T. 189]. Bell had been in the apartment about an hour before the police arrived. He had not been into the kitchen and had not opened any of the cabinets. He did not notice a small piece of tinfoil on the floor by the toilet. [T. 191]. Bell denied making any statement that everything in the apartment was his. He knew Det. Bates; Bates had arrested him before. "He kind of harassed me on breach of the peace." Bell stated he had \$510 in his possession. He had gotten a \$723 tax refund about four days prior to this incident. He was suppose to take his car to a body shop to be painted after it was repaired. [T. 191].

At the bench, the state asserted that Bell's reference to Bates harassing him on an earlier occasion opened the door to a showing of the complete circumstances of that arrest. The state asserted that Bell had been arrested for breach of the peace, resisting without violence, and also giving a false name at the time. The prosecutor did not know the outcome of the incident, however. [T. 192]. The court ruled to allow the inquiry on cross-examination [T. 194].

On cross, Bell testified he had been arrested for breach of the peace on September 17, 1993. He stated to the best of his knowledge, that was the only charge. He acknowledged that he gave the name of Eric Newton at the time of that arrest. [T. 197]. Bell admitted he was also charged with giving a false name. He denied he used profanity to the officer and denied bumping into Bates. He stated he had just moved into the rooming house where this incident occurred. [T. 198]. Bell denied being forcibly handcuffed. He stated he did not like Bates. [T. 199].

Bell stated he did not know Rodney's last name and denied telling the officers that everything was his. [T. 199; 202]. Bell did not know if Rodney's name was Burress [T. 203]. Bell stated there was no plate in the bathroom sink, but the water was running to wash his hands. Bell stated that after he finished using the bathroom, he had opened the door and started washing his hands. [T. 200]. Bell said the cleaning bills were in his

9

pocket and denied they were on the living room table [T. 201]. Bell stated that when in the bathroom, he could not see the shelf or dresser in the west bedroom.

In rebuttal, the state recalled Brannen, who said that when standing in the bathroom, you could see into the bedroom [T. 207]. Thomas was recalled in rebuttal. He also stated that you could see into the bedroom from the bathroom [T. 208]. In rebuttal, the state also presented the testimony of Det. Bates. [T. 209, *et seq.*]. Bates stated he had reviewed the report of the previous arrest. Bell was charged with resisting without violence, and giving a false name. Bates was not sure about the third charge. [T. 209]. At the time of the prior arrest, Bell's address was 1630 West 27th Street [T. 212-213]. Bates said Bell used profanity toward him and bumped into him [T. 210].

Bates also stated you could see into the bedroom from the bathroom [T. 211]. On redirect, Bates stated that in his experience people dealing with narcotics used numerous addresses [T. 213].

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

**ISSUE I** — This is the issue which is before this Court as a certified question. Petitioner was not present at the site of selection when the jury was chosen and therefore was unable to participate in the selection of his jury. Petitioner's case is one of the so-called "pipeline cases," falling after Coney's trial, yet before the final decision was rendered in *Coney* v. State, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995), in April 1995. Mr. Bell was not present at the sidebar when peremptory challenges were made by counsel. There is no record of a voluntary waiver by appellant of his presence at the challenging of the panel. Appellant's absence at a critical stage of the trial violated Rule 3.180(a)(4) and constituted a denial of due process. It cannot be shown by this record that his absence was not harmful; thus the court must reverse the conviction. Equal protection under the law, as well as decisions of this and other courts, demands that Petitioner be granted the same relief as was granted Coney. This is true whether *Coney* is considered to be "new law" or not. At the verv least, the law which preceded Coney, and upon which Coney was decided, mandates that Petitioner be granted the same relief. In *Coney*, the state conceded that Coney's absence during for-cause challenging of the jury was error under Francis v. State, but the error was held harmless. Here, the state is estopped from arguing that what occurred here --- the same factual scenario — is not error. Error has occurred, and it is not harmless, whether peremptory challenges were made or not. If they were made, they may not have been the ones Petitioner wanted. If they were not made, he may have wanted them to have been - including possible back-strikes. This Court has no way to access the damage done to the Petitioner. The answer to the certified question must be in the affirmative, and Petitioner should be granted a new trial.

**ISSUE II** — The trial court failed to conduct a *Richardson* inquiry once Detective Bates unexpectedly stated that the records of the Jacksonville Electric Authority showed that appellant was the subscriber to the electric service at the apartment where drugs were found. The defense objected that the statement was hearsay and had not been disclosed to the defense, and moved for a mistrial. The failure to conduct the inquiry was presumptively harmful. The record fails to demonstrate, and the state cannot show, that the defense was not procedurally prejudiced in its trial preparation or strategies by the non-disclosure. This Court must reverse.

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