IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



JUN 13 1996

BRUCE H. BELL,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 87,716

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

EDWARD C. HILL, JR. ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 238041

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

[4] Finally, Fed.R.Crim.P. 43 entitles defendants to be present "at every stage of the trial including the impaneling of the jury...." (FN1) This right is broader than the constitutional right (Shukitis, 877 F.2d at 1330), but is waived if the defendant does not assert it. Reversing the Ninth Circuit in Gagnon, the Supreme Court explained:

We disagree with the Court of Appeals that failure to object is irrelevant to whether a defendant had voluntarily absented himself under Rule 43 from an in camera conference of which he is aware. The district court need not get an express "on the record" waiver from the defendant for every trial conference which a defendant may have a right to attend.... A defendant knowing of such a discussion must assert whatever right he may have under Rule 43 to be present.

470 U.S. at 528, 105 S.Ct. at 1485; cf. Taylor v. United States, 414 U.S. 17, 18-20, 94 S.Ct. 194, 195-96, 38 L.Ed.2d 174 (1973) (per curiam). A defendant may not assert a Rule 43 right for the first time on appeal. Gagnon, 470 U.S. at 529, 105 S.Ct. at 1485; Shukitis, 877 F.2d at 1330. Because McCoy did

not invoke Rule 43 either during trial or in a post-trial motion, he has waived any right under that rule. (FN2)

Because of the availability of consultation between a lawyer and his client present for trial, there is no due process violation when a defendant is not present at the bench during a sidebar for peremptory challenges. See, McCoy, United States v. Gayles, 1 F.3d 735 (8th Cir. 1993), United States v. Moore, 936 F.2d 1508, 1523 (7th Cir. 1991), United States v. Bascaro, 742 F.2d 1335 (11th Cir. 1984) Therefore, the only legitimate conclusion is that the Coney decision was not one of constitutional magnitude.

In <u>United States v. Gagnon</u>, 470 U.S. 522, 526-530 (1985) the Supreme Court indicated that the right of the defendant to be present under Rule 43 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure (similar to our rule) is broader than the constitutionally based right to be present. In <u>Gagnon</u>, the Court held that such claims must be preserved at trial and that waiver of the benefits of the Rule 43 right to be present may be inferred by a defendant's failure to assert the right at trial. Thus, the United States Supreme Court recognizes that the Rule 43 right must be asserted

at trial by the defendant; our rule should follow the federal rule.

Finally, to state the problem and analysis in a slightly different form. The district court and the petitioner fail to distinguish between the <u>Coney</u> decision and the prospective rule announced in that decision. <u>Coney</u> is applicable to all pipeline cases, including the one at hand. However, <u>Coney</u> by its terms plainly announces that the new procedural rule established therein is only applicable to trials which occur after the announcement of the new rule. By its terms it does <u>not</u> provide relief to any appellant/petitioner whose trial occurred <u>before</u> the <u>Coney</u> decision became final. Not only is it uncontroverted that the issue was not preserved below, it is also uncontroverted that the trial occurred before the issuance of <u>Coney</u>. The district court is simply misapprehending the plain language of <u>Coney</u> in perceiving a conflict with <u>Smith</u>. None exists.

Summary

The question certified by the district court has already been answered and does not rise to the level of a question of great public importance. Thus, discretionary review should be denied. The Court should also decline review because the petitioner is not a member of the pipeline class who could benefit from an

affirmative answer to the certified question, as he did not raise the issue at trial. <u>Gibson</u>

Finally, the state urges that if this Court answers the question, that it answer the question in the negative. The question should be answered in the negative because the issue has been decided, because this Court has the authority to make its decisions prospective, and because modifications of rules of procedure are appropriately prospective only.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY NOT CONDUCTING A FULL RICHARDSON INQUIRY IN AN ALLEGED DISCOVERY VIOLATION? (Restated)

Petitioner argues that the trial court erred by failing to conduct a <u>Richardson</u> inquiry after being notified that a statement made by the police officer during cross examination had not been disclosed during discovery. His argument raised for the first time in the District Court was not discussed in that court's opinion, it was summarily rejected as having no merit. Therefore, this Court should deny review.

Additionally, petitioner's argument is misguided because there was no discovery violation, and the trial court excluded the contested statement as hearsay. Finally even if there was a violation of discovery, the failure to conduct a full <u>Richardson</u> inquiry was harmless.

Procedural Matters

Jurisdiction

Pursuant to Article V § 3(b)(4) Florida Constitution this

Court "[m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal

that passes upon a question certified by it to be one of great

public importance." When the Court obtains jurisdiction over a

case, it obtains jurisdiction over all issues in the case. The

District Court of Appeal of Florida, First District has certified a question, therefore, this Court has jurisdiction.

Exercise of Jurisdiction

While this Court has jurisdiction to answer this question, this Court has the discretion to decide whether it should exercise its jurisdiction and hear the case. State v. Burgess, 326 So.2d 441 (Fla. 1976), Stein v. Darby, 134 So.2d 232 (Fla. 1961) The state urges this Court to exercise its discretion and decline to review this case. Coffin v. State, 374 So.2d 504, 508 (Fla. 1979)

This Court should decline review of this issue because the lower tribunal's decision was a routine application of settled principles to the facts of the case. This issue contains no legal issue warranting this Court's review.

Preservation

Petitioner's claim raised in this issue was not properly preserved by specific objection in the trial court. Petitioner's initial response to the comment in the trial court was to request to approach the bench. At the bench he moved for a mistrial on the basis of prejudice. In the discussion of his claim, he stated that the statement was hearsay and was not disclosed. The situation was discussed and the trial court indicated that if

counsel made a hearsay objection the court would be inclined to sustain the objection but would not grant a mistrial. (T 138-140) After further discussion, the trial court inquired whether counsel was making a hearsay objection. Counsel stated that he was making a hearsay objection that went to the nature of the answer. (T 140) Counsel never stated that there was a discovery violation or that the information should have been disclosed during discovery. He never objected on the grounds of a discovery violation. Therefore, the claim presented in this issue is not preserved by specific objection and should not be addressed by this Court. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 432 (Fla. 1982), Matheson v. State, 500 So.2d 1341 (Fla. 1987)

Standards of Review

If this Court decides to review the trial court's ruling, certain standards need discussion. A trial court's has a great deal of discretion in admitting or excluding evidence and its decision in these matters will not be reversed unless the decision amounted to an abuse of discretion. This standard applies to decisions relating to discovery issues.

The seminal case on discovery violations is <u>Richardson v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 246 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 1971). However, <u>Richardson</u> is not applicable until a discovery violation is found. Thus, the first

issue in any discovery case is whether the trial court abused its discretion in finding no discovery violation. If the trial court finds a discovery violation and conducts a inquiry then its decision is reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard. This principle is the foundation of <u>Richardson</u> where this Court held, Id. at 775, that a trial court had discretion to determine whether a discovery violation is harmful following an adequate inquiry into the allegation and will be reversed only when that discretion is abused.

Abuse of discretion was defined in <u>Canakaris v. Canakaris</u>, 382 So. 2d 1197, 1203 (Fla. 1980), as:

Discretion in this sense, is abused when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way o saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable man would take the view adopted by the trial court. If reasonable men could differ as to the propriety of the action taken by the trial court, then it cannot be said that the trial court abused its discretion.

If a Court abuses its discretion by finding no discovery violation or by refusing to hold a <u>Richardson</u> hearing when a discovery objection is made during trial, then the issue becomes whether such action was harmless error.

In State v. Schopp, 20 F.L.W. S136, S137 (Fla. 1995), this

Court stated that the failure to conduct a full Richardson

inquiry does not always result in an unfair trial, and that

"there are cases ... where a reviewing court can say beyond

reasonable doubt that the defense was not prejudiced by the

underlying violation and thus the failure to make an adequate

inquiry was harmless error. " Id. at S138. The supreme court

added that application of a harmless error analysis to Richardson

violation will result in reversal only "where the record will not

support a finding that the unsanctioned discovery violation could

not have materially hindered the defense. " Id. Hence, the

petitioner 's claim that the trial court did not conduct

Richardson inquiry is subject to harmless error analysis.

1. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in not conducting a full <u>Richardson</u> inquiry because there was no discovery violation.

Petitioner argues that the trial court committed reversible error because it did not conduct a <u>Richardson</u> inquiry into defense counsel allegation of discovery violation. Petitioner 's argument is without merit because trial counsel never claimed a discovery violation and because a <u>Richardson</u> inquiry is not triggered by any unsubstantiated allegations. In order to

trigger the requirement that a Richardson hearing be held, there must be a substantiated violation of discovery brought to the attention of the trial judge. Wuornos

An examination of the facts in light of Rule 3.220 Fla. R. Crim. P., which delineates the discovery obligations of a party, establishes that no discovery violation occurred. The rule require production of certain information and documents. not require the state to provide a running account of the detective's investigation or do petitioner's work for him. Wuornos, Crawford v. State, 257 So. 2d 898 (Fla. 1972)

The defendant can find out what he wants to know about the conduct of the investigation through the required reports and a deposition of the officer. The state provided all required information and the names of the officers involved in the arrest. The state updated the discovery as more information became available including expert witness and custodians of the property. (R 15, 23) It was not required to disclose any further information about prior or subsequent actions of the detective.

When an issue came up on the day of trial regarding the updated discovery disclosure of a statement made by petitioner regarding his residence. The trial court conducted a Richardson hearing and found no discovery violation. Even though no

violation was found, the state agreed not to elicit the oral statement to avoid continuing the case. (T 86-93) However, the state advised that it would be asking whose apartment it was as the detective had other independent knowledge that was the defendant's apartment. (T 93) Thus, contrary to its assertion, the defense was made aware that the officer had other information relating to ownership of the apartment. No discovery violation occurred. See Craig v. State, 585 So. 2d 278 (Fla. 1991).

On direct examination, the officer testified to a statement made by the petitioner. The officer testified that during the search they found papers on the living room table with petitioner's name on them. (T 103) The officer also testified that after being advised of his rights petitioner was advised what had been found in the apartment. In response, petitioner stated that, "everything in the apartment is mine". (T 127-130)

Later on cross examination after attempting to discredit the officer's conduct of the investigation and his reports, defense counsel (despite the prosecutor's warning about the detective having other information about the apartment) began to probe the detective's knowledge of the ownership of the building. Defense Counsel asked,

"You don't know who the owner of the building is, do you?"

The answer was

"No. But I know the Jacksonville Electric Authority and I have access to their files. Mr. Bell is the one who actually obtained electricity for that apartment." (T 138)

This statement of the detective about what he did in the case is simply not a matter which the rule requires to be disclosed in discovery. The officer's action is something he could be questioned about during a deposition but is not an action the discovery rule requires the state to disclose. Wuornos

The state's position is supported by the caselaw discussing discrepancies between pretrial statements and trial testimony.

In Street v. State, 636 So. 2d 1297, 1302 (Fla. 1994), a police officer testified differently at trial then in a deposition. At trial he testified that when he went to the jail that the defendant glared and smirked at him; the officer explained that he replied "no" at deposition because he was asked "if he did anything else in the case" rather than "if he had done anything after he left the crime scene." Id. This Court found that the State did not commit a discovery violation by not disclosing this, stating:

When testimonial discrepancies appear, the witness trial and deposition testimony can be laid side-by-side for the jury to consider. This would serve to discredit the witness and should be favorable to the defense. Therefore, unlike failure to name a witness, changed testimony does not rise to the level of a discovery violation and will not support a motion for a Richardson inquiry.

Street, at 1302. (citation omitted) (emphasis added).

Turning to the instant case, during cross examination defense counsel asked Detective Bates "You don't know who the landlord of this building is, do you?" (T 138). Detective Bates responded "[n]o. But I know the Jacksonville Electric Authority, who I have access to their files. Mr. Bell is the one who actually obtained the electricity with apartment." (T 138). At side bar, defense counsel objected and moved for a mistrial, stating "[h]e's testified to something which is hearsay information and which has never been disclosed to the defense in anyway." (T 138-139). After reading back the testimony the trial court struck the statement, finding that it is hearsay, but not a discovery violation because defense counsel opened the door. (T The trial court denied the motion for mistrial and instructed the jury "I'm going to instruct you to disregard the last answer of the witness in deliberating your verdict." (T

139-141). The trial court complied with <u>Richardson</u> in that it properly inquired into the circumstances surrounding the objection; once it determined that there was no objection made regarding a discovery violation, the remainder of the inquiry was not necessary. The trial court properly found that there was no discovery violation, and that defense invited the response. Similar to <u>Street</u>, this Court should find that the statement did not rise to the level of a discovery violation necessary to support a full <u>Richardson</u> inquiry. Therefore, petitioner 's claim of error must be rejected, and his convictions should be affirmed. <u>Craig</u>

2. The failure to conduct a full <u>Richardson</u> inquiry was harmless.

Even if this was a discovery violation that necessitated a Richardson inquiry, the failure to conduct a full Richardson inquiry was harmless because the contested statement was not entered in evidence. Richardson hearings are designed to enforce discovery obligations. Here the state was not introducing evidence. The defense was trying to discredit the detective's investigation and the detective responded and the court struck the testimony. Under Richardson, the ultimate sanction for a

discovery violation is to preclude the use of the testimony.

Thus, petitioner received the ultimate benefit that any

Richardson hearing could have provided and has shown no error.

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